
 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
March 21, 2016 
Page 1 of 8 
 

 
 
 

Town of Swanzey, New Hampshire 
Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment 

Meeting Minutes – March 21, 2016 
 
Note:  Draft Minutes are subject to review, correction and approval by the Board. Review and approval of Minutes 
generally takes place at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. 
 
A meeting of the Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Chair 
William Hutwelker. Present were Keith Thibault, Sarah Tatro, Bob Mitchell, and Beverly Bernard, 
Recording Secretary. The Recording Secretary called the roll and read the Agenda for the meeting. 
 
Absent:  Bryan Rudgers, Alternate Shane Bryant, Alternate Marty Geheran, and Alternate Charles 
Beauregard, Sr.  
 
Others Present:  Director of Planning and Community Development Sara Carbonneau, Marlene Johnson, 
Robert Dettelback, Richard Dell’Erba, Timothy Cloutier, Ryan Kottke, Mike Lambert, Mike Blair, Susan 
King, Beverly Boyd, Neal Boyd, and Attorney William Phillips. 
 
MINUTES 
Consideration of the Minutes for February 8, 2016 was postponed.  

 
APPOINTMENT OF ALTERNATE MEMBERS 
The Board considered the appointment of alternate members for two terms to expire at Town Meeting 
2019 and one term to expire at Town Meeting 2018. Adam Mulhearn was appointed as Alternate for 
term to expire Town Meeting 2019. Mulhearn was sworn in at the meeting by the Chair. 
 
Shane Bryant was appointed as Alternate for term to expire at Town Meeting 2019. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Public Hearing opened at 7:07 p.m.  Marlene Johnson requests a variance from Section V.B.3. 
to permit the construction of a carport that does not meet required setbacks. The property is 
located at 864 West Swanzey Road and is situated in the Business District. The property is 
shown at Tax Map 71, Lot 5.  
 
The Chair seated Mulhearn for Rudgers and seated himself, Thibault, Tatro, Mitchell, and 
Mulhearn for this hearing. 
 
Ms. Johnson addressed the Board regarding her desire to put up a carport. She showed them a 
map showing the proposed carport which would be 18’ wide by 20’ deep.  It was noted that 75 
front setback is required for a business zone where the lot is located.  Carport would be 26 feet 
from the front property line. She meets all other setbacks. Carbonneau said the carport is 
situated as far back as possible given the property characteristics. Johnson said that she needs a 
carport so that she doesn’t have to remove snow from the driveway during the winter. 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
March 21, 2016 
Page 2 of 8 
 

Carbonneau said the property is on private septic and well. Only setback not being met is front 
setback. 
 
The Chair asked the Board for questions and asked those present for questions. There were 
none. 
 
Public hearing closed at 7:11 pm. 
Chair Hutwelker considered the request of Marlene Johnson for a variance from Section V.B.3. 
to permit the construction of a carport that does not meet required setbacks on property 
located at 864 West Swanzey Road, situated in the Business District and shown at Tax Map 71, 
Lot 5.  

 
He reviewed the Checklist for Granting a Variance with the members of the Board: 
Could the variances be granted without being contrary to the public interest? 

Members said: yes 
Would the spirit of the ordinance be observed if the variances were granted? 

Members said: yes 
Would the granting the variances do substantial justice? 

Members said: yes 
Could the variances be granted without diminishing surrounding property values? 

Members said: yes 
Do special conditions of the property exist that distinguish it from other properties in the area?   

Members said: yes – because of the odd shaped lot that falls off at the back. Mitchell also said a 
neighboring structure is similar in positioning. 
a. Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other property in the area, 

there is not a fair and substantial relationship between the general public purpose of the ordinance 
and the specific application of the provision to the property?  Members said:  yes 

b. Are the proposed uses a reasonable one?  Members said: yes 
c. If the criteria in subparagraph a. and b. are not met, an unnecessary hardship will be deemed to exist 

if, and only if: Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other properties 
in the area the property cannot be reasonably used in strict conformance with the ordinance, and a 
variance is necessary to enable a reasonable use of the property. Members said: N/A. 

 
The Chair reported that “yes” prevailed and he entertained a motion to grant the request for 
Variance from Section V.B.3.  
 
Motion was made by Mitchell to grant the request of Marlene Johnson for a variance from 
Section V.B.3. to permit the construction of a carport that does not meet required setbacks on 
property located at 864 West Swanzey Road, situated in the Business District and shown at Tax 
Map 71, Lot 5. There was a second by Thibault and no further discussion. All were in favor. 
Motion passed. 
 

B. Public Hearing opened at 7:16 pm. – Request by Robert Dettelback for a special exception from 
Section III.AA. to permit the construction of an accessory dwelling unit (ADU). The property is 
located at 35 Centerview Drive and is situated in the Residence District. The property is shown 
at Tax Map 35, Lot 34.  

 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
March 21, 2016 
Page 3 of 8 
 

The Chair seated Mulhearn for Rudgers and seated himself, Thibault, Tatro and Mulhearn for 
this hearing. Mitchell recused himself since he can see the project from his back yard. 
 
Chair spoke to Dettleback about the fact that only four members would be seated for this 
decision and gave him the option to request to continue to next meeting when five members 
would be present, noting that the applicant needs 3 votes in favor of the Special Exception to 
prevail. 

 
Carbonneau provided information about notices provided and that abutters were notified. She 
said there was no feedback from Department Heads. The Board had a letter from Mike Jasmin in 
support of the project.  She also noted that the property has a private well and septic designed 
for a total of four bedrooms. 
 
There was a brief discussion about new laws regarding ADUs going into effect in 2017. 
 
Mr. Dettelback decided to proceed with the review by the present Board at this time.  He said 
the accessory dwelling unit is designed for a family member.  Mike Lambert, contractor for the 
Dettelback project, was also present with design drawings.  Behind the new garage would be the 
new unit.  30’ X 32’ is the proposed size of the ADU. The total floor area of the primary dwelling 
was discussed.  It was noted that the ADU will be 900 sq feet which fulfills the required 
percentage in reference to the primary dwelling unit. 
 
There was a discussion about the septic system in support of four bedrooms.  It was noted that 
there are two ADU additions in the immediate neighborhood. The Chair asked the Board for 
questions.  Thibault said he had concerns about the bedroom count.  He said he counted six 
bedrooms which include two in the ADU and four in the primary dwelling unit. There is a four 
bedroom septic.  Lambert said that he could remove the closet to make it an office instead of a 
bedroom.  Carbonneau suggested requiring a record at the Registry that the property has four 
bedrooms totally, including the ADU.  Hutwelker agreed that it appears to be a total of six 
bedrooms based on the design drawing.  He asked for guidance from Carbonneau. Carbonneau 
suggested the possibility of re-designing the septic system to accommodate six bedrooms.   
Thibault said that he felt that it would be better to have a six-bedroom design completed but 
while requiring it to be installed until the existing septic system failed.  Lambert said that he 
thought it would be relatively easy to put in a six bedroom designed system. 
 
Mitchell who also lives on Centerview Drive said this design would be an asset to the 
neighborhood.  Jennifer Burroughs who also lives at 35 Centerview Drive asked about whether 
the reluctance by the Board was about the number of people in the house. Lambert said it was 
about the potential for additional residents.  Thibault said he does like the design and that his 
concern is about future residential use of the bedrooms. Thibault said that the property looks 
large enough to accommodate a larger septic system.  
 
Chair asked for questions from the Board and there were no further questions. 

 
Public Hearing closed at 7:48 pm. 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
March 21, 2016 
Page 4 of 8 
 

 
Thibault said that he would like to see a six-bedroom septic system be designed as a condition 
to approval of the ADU. 

 
The Chair considered the request of Robert Dettelback for a special exception from Section 
III.AA. to permit the construction of an accessory dwelling unit on property located at 35 
Centerview Drive. 

 Is the exception allowed by the ordinance?  All said: yes 

Are the specified conditions present under which the exception may be granted?  

a. Is the proposed use similar to one or more of the uses already authorized in that District and is it an 
appropriate location for such use? – all said: yes 

b. Will such approval reduce the value of any property within the district, or otherwise be injurious, 
obnoxious, or offensive to the neighborhood?  All said:  no 

c. Will there be a nuisance or serious hazard to vehicles or pedestrians? All said: no 
d. Will adequate and appropriate facilities be provided for the proper operation of the proposed use? 

All said: yes with the addition of a six-bedroom septic system design 

The  Chair entertained a motion to approve the request based on the responses to the checklist 
for granting a special exception. 

 
Thibault moved to grant the request of Robert Dettelback for a special exception from Section 
III.AA. to permit the construction of an accessory dwelling unit on property located at 35 
Centerview Drive, situated in the Residence District and shown at Tax Map 35, Lot 34 with the 
stipulation that a six-bedroom septic design designed by a licensed septic designer be 
completed and on file before a permit is issued.   Mulhearn seconded the motion and there was 
no further discussion. All were in favor. No one opposed. Motion passed. 

 
C. Public Hearing opened at 7:54 pm.  Request for variance. Richard Dell’Erba, Trustee of the 

Richard C. Dell’Erba Trust, requests a variance from Section IV.B.3. to permit the construction of 
a carport that does not meet required setbacks. The property is located at 85 Wilson Pond Road 
and is situated in the Residence & Shoreland Protection Districts. The property is shown at Tax 
Map 19, Lot 26.  
 
The Chair seated Mulhearn for Rudgers and seated himself, Thibault, Tatro, Mitchell and 
Mulhearn for this hearing.  
 
Carbonneau noted legal notices and abutter notices were sent as well as notices to Department 
Heads. No feedback was obtained from Department Heads except Code Enforcement.  She 
noted that the carport has already been constructed.  She said there were questions regarding 
the accuracy of the plan submitted with the application. She noted that citizens provided 
support for the project via email.  The property has not been surveyed said Carbonneau.  The 
width of the lot was in question and the setbacks. 
 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
March 21, 2016 
Page 5 of 8 
 

Attorney Phillips led the discussion regarding the structure and that the plan is to move the 
structure.  He noted an uncertainly of the boundaries. He spoke about the 15 foot right-of-way 
(ROW).  He said the request is for a reasonable use because a carport is reasonable use to a 
home. He referred to neighboring carports and sheds on either Wilson Pond Road or on Pasture 
Road. He referred to citizens who wrote in support of the carport. He pointed to Mike Blair, a 
licensed Realtor, who can attest to there not being any reduction in neighboring property values 
by the presence of the carport. He noted that some of the property dimensions shown in tax 
maps at the pond are not accurate. There was a discussion about the ROW and its reason for 
being.  Phillips said it looks like a drainage ditch. Dell’Erba said the ROW was discontinued when 
the public sewer system was installed.  The Chair spoke about the idea that the ROW is possibly 
to provide access to the lake for those properties on the opposite side of the street. Phillips 
spoke about the 15 foot ROW which could be considered additional footage to the abutter 
property owners. In this case 7.5 feet would be owned by each lot owner on each side of the 
ROW, which would assist Dell’Erba keeping his carport within the required setbacks. 
 
Phillips said that Dell’Erba was told he didn’t need a building permit by the Code Enforcement 
Officer because of the size of the carport. Later, once the carport was built, he learned that he 
still had to observe the setback requirements.   
 
Phillips reviewed the checklist questions and responded to each.  He noted because of the 
existing 15 foot ROW, taking that into consideration would result in 30 feet to the abutter, 
which would not therefore require a variance for the carport. 
 
Mitchell learned that the driveway is paved and therefore no difference in permeability in 
regards to water run-off affecting the pond.   It was noted that it would be 15 feet setback if the 
structure were to be moved.   There was a discussion about the property lines.  
 
Beverly Boyd who lives on Wilson Pond Road spoke. She said she felt the lot is too small for the 
carport.  She said there was once a culvert in the ROW.  She said her property is across the 
street from Dell’Erba and because the culvert was removed she has water issues.  She said she 
was worried that rainwater would be washed off the carport and increase to her water 
problems.  She asked for a continuance of the Public Hearing so they could obtain their deed 
about the ROW.   Neal Boyd also spoke about having been in contact with Public Works.  Phillips 
said that the carport would not add to the water problems since the driveway is paved. Boyd 
asked about water runoff. Dell’Erba said there are gutters on the carport. 
 
Mike Blair spoke about property values affected by the carport.  He said that there are carports 
in the area of the Dell’Erba property and it was his opinion that it does not detract from the 
surrounding property values. 
 
Susan King said that given Dell’Erba’s age, it helps having a carport so as not to have to remove 
snow.   
 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
March 21, 2016 
Page 6 of 8 
 

Hutwelker said he was troubled by Dell’Erba’s request for a variance since in the past Dell’Erba 
was opposed to a neighbor receiving a variance for a project.  Dell’Erba spoke about his 
attempts to conserve the quality of the water of Wilson Pond.  
 
Public Hearing closed at 8:39 p.m. 
 
Chair Hutwelker considered the request of Richard Dell’Erba, Trustee of the Richard C. Dell’Erba 
Trust, for a variance from Section IV.B.3. to permit the construction of a carport that does not 
meet required setbacks on property located at 85 Wilson Pond Road, situated in the Residence 
& Shoreland Protection Districts and shown at Tax Map 19, Lot 26.  Mitchell commented on the 
fact that he has always felt strongly about the shoreline protection district and he struggles to 
increase usage in the shoreline protection district.  Thibault spoke about the ROWs and that the 
primary use might have been for drainage.  He noted that this ROW is not unique in the area 
around the pond. 

 
The Chair reviewed the Checklist for Granting a Variance with the members of the Board: 

Could the variances be granted without being contrary to the public interest? 
Members said: All said yes  
 

Would the spirit of the ordinance be observed if the variances were granted? 
Members said: All said yes 
 

Would the granting the variances do substantial justice? 
Members said: Thibault yes, Tatro yes, Mulhearn yes, Mitchell yes, Hutwelker no 
 

Could the variances be granted without diminishing surrounding property values? 
Members said: yes 
 

Do special conditions of the property exist that distinguish it from other properties in the area?   
Members said: There was discussion about the extent of the boundaries of the properties and whether 
or not the property was expanded from 50 feet to 60 feet at lake level.  Hutwelker asked if the Board 
wanted to postpone the decision until such time as could be determined the ownership of the ROW and 
whether the ROW is owned by the abutters. 
 
Motion was made by Mitchell to re-open the public hearing.  Tatro seconded the motion.  
Discussion: Purpose is to determine whether the abutters own the ROW and then the issue of the 
setbacks goes away. Hutwelker said he did not think there was a special condition regarding this 
property. Tatro retracted her second and Mitchell retracted the motion to open. 
 
Discussion continued: the property is a trapezoid and not rectangular.  Members considered whether 
special condition of this lot would be because it is a trapezoid. Mitchell said that he does not see a 
special condition. Mulhearn, Tatro, and Thibault agreed with Mitchell 
 

1. Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other property in the area, 
there is not a fair and substantial relationship between the general public purpose of the 
ordinance and the specific application of the provision to the property?  Members said:  there are 
no special conditions 

2. Are the proposed uses a reasonable one?  Members said: yes 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
March 21, 2016 
Page 7 of 8 
 

3. If the criteria in subparagraph a. and b. are not met, an unnecessary hardship will be deemed to 
exist if, and only if: Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other 
properties in the area the property cannot be reasonably used in strict conformance with the 
ordinance, and a variance is necessary to enable a reasonable use of the property. 

 
The Chair reported that no special condition existed and he entertained a motion to deny the 
request for Variance. 
 
Motion was made by Mitchell to deny the request of Richard Dell’Erba, Trustee of the Richard C. 
Dell’Erba Trust, for a variance from Section IV.B.3. to permit the construction of a carport that 
does not meet required setbacks on property located at 85 Wilson Pond Road, situated in the 
Residence & Shoreland Protection Districts and shown at Tax 19, Lot 26 based on failure to 
provide special conditions for the property. There was a second by Thibault and no further 
discussion. All were in favor. Motion passed. 

  
D. Public Hearing opened at 9:04 pm – Request for variance. Timothy Cloutier and Ryan Kottke 

request a variance from Section III.S.12 to permit the installation of freestanding signs for 
businesses that are not located on the premises. The location of the signs is on property shown 
at Tax Map 3, Lot 4, owned by Kate Donovan, LLC. The lot is situated in the Business District. 
 
The Chair seated Mulhearn for Rudgers and seated himself, Thibault, Tatro and Mulhearn for 
this hearing. Carbonneau spoke about notices provided to the public, to abutters, and to 
Department Heads. The sign being discussed is on a vacant lot on the corner of Route 12 and 
Flat Roof Mill. 
 
The Board reviewed the application.  Timothy Cloutier of 386 Massey Hill representing Blue 
Water Pools and Ryan Kottke of 386 Massey Hill Road for KG Performance Solutions were 
present to speak to the Board. They said they want permission for the two signs currently there, 
and are proposing a new sign that will cover both businesses, replacing the existing signs.   There 
was a discussion about the Whittemore Farm Road sign and the fact that the sign advertises 
businesses not located where the sign is located. Carbonneau said the sign was included in the 
site plan.  Cloutier and Kottke said they would like to create a sign similar to the Whittemore 
Farm Road sign which points to businesses further up the road and not on Route 12. Cloutier 
pointed out that because of the houses on Massey Hill Road, potential customers cannot find 
their businesses.  
 
Hutwelker said it will need some research as to the permit process for the Whittemore Farm 
Road since the applicants are referring to it. There was a discussion about off-premise signs and 
that the ZBA has not granted variances for those. Carbonneau noted that the property owner 
signed the application. It was noted that Massey Hill Road is situated in the Business District. 
 
Hutwelker asked the applicants to respond to the questions precisely.  Thibault said a variance is 
a high bar to meet.  He pointed out that the zoning ordinances are the law and it is up to the 
applicant to show why the law as it exists doesn’t apply to the applicant.  Thibault suggested 
that the applicants do more research about which signs might not be located where the 
business resides to help the Board make their decision.  It was noted that billboards are not 



 
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
March 21, 2016 
Page 8 of 8 
 

allowed in Swanzey. It was explained to the applicants that a grandfathered sign would only be 
grandfathered while the sign exists, but once it is gone, the grandfathering factor is no longer 
applicable.  
 
Carbonneau asked if this would be the first item on the agenda for the next meeting should the 
applicants request a continuance and the Board agreed. The Board recommended working with 
Carbonneau for research on other off-premise signs, including the Whittemore Farm Road sign.  
 
Mitchell said that the applicants have done a good job of presenting the business case.  Kottke 
and Cloutier then asked for a continuance. 
 
Mitchell moved to continue, without further notice, the application of Timothy Cloutier and 
Ryan Kottke for a variance from Section III.S.12 to permit the installation of freestanding signs 
for businesses that are not located on the premises on property shown at Tax Map 3, Lot 4, 
owned by Kate Donovan, LLC and located in the Business District to April 18, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. 
at the Swanzey Town Hall. There was a second by Mulhearn, and all were in favor. Motion 
passed. 

 
ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
The Board considered the election of officers.   Tatro moved to elect William Hutwelker to Chair and 
Keith Thibault to Vice Chair. There was a second to the motion by Mitchell and no further discussion.  All 
were in favor. Motion passed. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Motion to adjourn was made by Tatro, seconded by Thibault and all were in favor. Motion passed.  
Adjournment occurred at 9:39 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 
Beverly Bernard, Recording Secretary 


